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. 5 having been first duly sworn, was examined and.1

testified as follows: 

EXAMINATION 
BYMRCHOI: 


Q State your full name fur the rewrd. 


A Robert David Alexander, Jr. 

Q Mr. Alexander, are you the per.;on most 


knowledgeable regarding Bell Road Automall's attempted 
sale ofa vehicle to Michael Dotts? 

A Yes. 
Q And tell me, what do you do for a living? 


A I own cu dealerships. 

Q What dealerships do you own? 


A Bell Ro•d AutomaU, Bell Road Kia aod Nortb 


Sc.ottsdale Ryundai. 
Q Do you own it with other partners, or do you ov.n 

it through corporations, or tell me about the ownership 
structure? 

A 1am a shareholder in a corporation, there's one 
other shareholder in tbe Bell Road Automall entity aod tbc 
.... ,,., •i; .·.' ··:io,.;;,). >;~ "H ~. c'.<'.'• ,. "'· • /#.' .~·~ .••,·.···~..,, ··• "!;.~ 
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North Scottsdale entity. There is a minority holding 
company in tbe Kia dealership. 

Q Mr. Alexander, let me briefly cover the rules of 
the deposition. As you can tell, there's a court reporter 
in this conference room that is taking down evei)1h.ing 
that is being said. So it is very important that we don't 
talk over each other. 

Most oftbe people in conversation can anticipate 
how a question is going to end and start answering before 
the end ofthe question. However, ifwe talk over each. 
other, the court reporter will not be able to take it 
down. So please wait Wltil I fmish my question before 
you answer and I will likewise try to wait until you 
tinish your answer before I ask my next question. 

Moreover, it's very important that you answer 
affrrmatively with yes, no or tell me, instead ofult-huh 
or huh-uh or shaking of tlle head.because that does not 
come out very good in the transcript. 

A Okay. 
Q Next, ifyou need any break or anything, just let 

me know. We have water in our conference room so just let 
me know. Okay? 

A Okay. 
Q So you are tb.e majority shareholder of the three 

dealerships we just talked about? 

~ -~ . T . Re9or t er & Transcr ip t Services 
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Page 6 ~ PageS 
~ 

1 A No. Minority shareholder. ~. 1 operates Bell Road Kla? 

2 Q What is your position with Bell Road AutomaU? ~ 2 A At that same time. 


3 A If [ can have you clarify, are you talking about ~ 3 Q And when did North Scottsdale Hyundai start its 

4 during the time-· if you can clarify which time frame. ~ 4 business? 

5 Q Sure. Let's start today and work bacl..-wards. ~ 5 A December of 2005. 


~ 

6 A Today ram more of an overseer, I'm not as ~ 6 Q And what is your involvement with North 

7 invoh'ed in day to day. 	 ~ 7 Scottsdale Hyundai? ~ 


B Q Okay. How about back in March of2005? ~ 8 A I am a member of that LLC as welL 

~ 

9 A I was the 2eneral manager. ~ 9 Q Do you hold any management position? 
10 Q When did you stop beiog a general manager of Bell ~ 1 0 A No. 
11 Road AutomaU? ~ 11 Q All right. Let's talk about the basis for your 
1 2 A I bad hired a replacement for myself, I don't 

t: 
f, 12 knowledge regarding Bell Road Automall's attempred sale of 

13 know the eud date, but It was sometime within the last ~ 13 a vehicle to Michael Dotts. Were you personally involved 
1 4 two months. ~ 14 in Bell Road AutomaU's attempted sale ofa vehicle to 

15 Q Aod who is that replacement? h 5 

~ 
Michael Dotts? 


16 A Mike Fuse. ~ 16 A No. 

1 7 Q And. how long were you the general manager for ~ 1 7 Q Tell me about the basis for your knowledge 

1 B Bell Road Automall? ~ 18 regarding Michael Dotts' transaction? 

19 A Since August of 1999. ~ 19 A Your request for documents, J believe it was a 

2 0 Q Is that when. Bell Road Automall started its J2 0 check was basie -- What am I trying to say. A review of 

21 business? ~ 21 the history 6 my knowledge. 

2 2 A Yes. ~ 2 2 Q How did you review the history? 

2 3 Q And do you currently hold any official title with ~ 2 3 A Looked a.t the accounting records. 

2 4 Bell Road Automall? ~ 2 4 Q Anything else? 


2 5 ... , ... ~ . ,I,am known as tbe secreta.ry/treasurer ~.ft~~"' .. ,~ 25 A I spoke wit~,:~ ~~~~-rn~y.~h:~rn,in:· 
Page 7 ~ Page9 

~ 
1 corporation. 	 i 1 Q Any1hing else? 

12 Q And have you always been the secretary/treasurer ~ 2 A No. 

3 ofthe corporation? ' 3 Q Okay. And let's talk about the accounting 


~ 
4 A Yes. 	 ~ 4 records that you revi.ewed to learn about Michael Dotts' 

5 Q And what's your position with Bell Road Kia ~ 5 transaction. What. accOlmting records did you review? 


~ 
6 today? ~ 6 A There was a receipt for cash taken, there was a 
7 A lam the, that's an LLC, I'm a member of the LLC. ~ 7 copy ofa cashier's check, a printout from our accounting 

~ 
8 Q Are you a managing member? ~ 8 records of the debits and credits on the Dotts a.ccount. A 
9 A No. ~ copy of the check "Titten to Micha.el Dotts. And that's ;~ 9 

10 Q Is there a managing member? p o it. 

11 A Yes. ~ 11 MR. CHOI: Mark that 
r,

12 Q And do you currently work in any capacity with 	 p 2 (PlaintiffS' Eldlibit 1was marked for 
1 3 Bell Road Kia? 	 ~ 13 identification) 

~ 14 A I spend some time as an overseer. ~ 14 MR. CHOI: Q Mr. Alexander, the court reporter just 
15 Q Did you ever work as general manager for Bell ~ 15 handed to you a stack ofdocuments marked as Exhibit l to 
16 Road Kia? i. 16 your deposition. And there are what's called Bates 
l 7 A I'm sorry for pausing. The only time that ( ~ 17 stamped numbers on the lower right-hand comer, and l~n 

18 would have held that position was perhaps Ifwe were in ~ 18 going to refer to Bates stamp nurn.bers in this exlubit when 
1 9 between general manage rs. I'm trying to remember a h 9 I make any reference. Okay? 
2 0 specific time and I cannot think ofone, but I'm not sure. ~ 2 0 A (s that tbe one that says Exhibit Number I? 

~ 
21 Q Okay. And when did t!1e Bell Road Kia start its p l Q No. That's the court reporter's sticker. 

2 2 business? ~ 22 MR. RAKESTRAW: Here's one. 

2 3 A 1993, I believe it would have been in. the fourtb b 3 THE WITNESS: I see. I'm holding the document the 


2 4 quarter of 1993, I don't remember the month exactly. b 4 wrong way. 
.. 
25 Q And when did you become a member ofthe LLC that 	 ; 

i 25 MR. CHOI: Q I'm sorry. Okay. So on the fust 

C. A. T. Reporter & Transcript Services 
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~ 

1 page Bates stamp 174. ~ 1 Q I understand. Did you ask her to print out this 
2 A Yes. ~ 2 document for you? 
3 Q And the second page, page 184? ~ 3 A I asked Samantha Dimple for any documents that 

4 A Okay. 
r 

4 the aceounting office may have relating to the Dotts 
5 Q Can you identify that doctuneut? 1i 5 transaction. 

~ 
6 A That document appears to be, this appears to be Q That would have been on January 9, 2006, or 

7 the Michael Dotts accounting record, a printout of our ~ ~ sometime prior to that? 

8 accounting screen. ~ 8 A l do 11ot know the date. 


~ 
9 Q Okay, And can you identify the document in ~ 9 Q All right. Can you tell, by looking at the Bates 

1o Exhibit 1, Bares stamped 185? b o page 184 can you tell when that docwnent was printed.? 
ii, 

11 A That is a check, a refund check to Michael Dotts. p l A Yes. It was Ja11uary 9, 2006. 

12 Q And 186? ~ 12 Q Okay. So it would have been either that day OL' a 

13 A That is a receipt ofc.asb taken from Michael ~ 1 3 tew days prior to that that you asked her to print out the 

14 Dotts. fi 1 4 records; right? 

15 Q And Bates page 188? ~ 1 5 A That would be correct. 

16 A That is a cashier's check made out to BeU Road h6 Q Wby did you ask her to print out the records? 

1 7 Automa.IL %. 17 A At the request of my attorney.
t 
18 Q Okay. Let's go to Bates page 192, Have you seen p s Q And whose handwriting is that on Exhibit 1, Bates 

1 9 that document before? ' page 184? 

2 0 A I reviewed that this morning with my attorney. I~ ~ A I do not know. 

2 1 Q Is that the fl!st time you looked at it? b l Q Do you know how to read the information that is 


~ 
2 2 A Yes. p 2 contained within this printout? 
2 3 Q Other than talking to your attorney, did you ~ 2 3 A 1have some knowledge . .~~ 

2 4 speak with anybody else re.gardillg Michael Dotts' ~ 2 4 Q All right. Let's start from the top, It says 

2 5 transaction? ~ 25 schedule number 305, do you know what that is? 
>.; 

·~ 
Page 11 ! 	 Page 13 

~ 
1 A (asked some people. who were potentially involved A That would be - rm not positive, I would be ~ 1 
2 in the Michael Dotts transaction if they bad any speculating. 

3 retollection of the transaction, aod none of tbem did. I ~ Q Okay, And then there's a control nmnber 


y: 

4 Q Who did you speak with? g 4 00109057. Do you know what that is? 

5 A I spoke ~ith Aslam Dulara. A I could only speculate. 
~ 5 

~ 
6 Q Can you spell that? 	 g 6 Q And what is that speculation? 

r? 
7 A A-s-1-a-m, D-u-1-a-r-a. And I also spoke "itb [ 7 A Genenlly in accounting the schedule would be­

8 Greg Stewart You want me to speculate on both or just one? 
~ 8 
9 Q Anybody else? 	 ,; 9 Q Sure. Both would be great

:< 
10 A No. 	 ~ 1 0 A My speculation would be tbat tlte schedule 305 
11 Q All right Lefs come back to the document, 	 ~ 11 would be vehlde receivable, and my speculation on the 

~· 12 1 Z start with Bates page 184. control number would be that particular car or customer. 
13 A Okay. !~ 13 Q And.then there's a date of4/28/05. Do you know* 

1 4 Q Did you find that document? " ~ 14 what tl1at date is? 

15 A Did I find tbis document? h s A No. Probably a - Well, again, I would be 

1 6 Q Yes. ~ 1 6 sptculating. 

17 A I don't know If1 printed it, someone printed it ~ 1 7 Q Go ahead and speculate. 

1 B out ofour computer system, looks like Samantha Dimple did ; 1 8 A Thafs the search date that she put i.n to fmd 

19 a print out for me. p 9 this document. 

20 Q Okay, So you're looking at the very bottom line ~ 2 0 Q All right And then if you look inside the 

21 ofthe screen, "Dimplesa?" ~ 21 database itselfthere's a colwnncalled "OP.'' Do you see 

22 A Yes. ~ 22 that? 

2 3 Q Why did you ask San~antha Dimple to print this out ~ 23 A Yes. 

24 for you? 

Y!p 4 Q Do you know if that "OP" stands for operator? 

2 5 A She works in the acconnting office. '~ 2 5 A I believe that that is what ifs reftrring to. 
# 

~ .A . T . Reporter & Transcr i pt Servic es 
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Page 14 
i 
~ Page 16 

~ 1 Q Okay. And then undemeatlt that column there's a 1 Q Okay. So this shows then that on March 21 of$ 
2 "KP." Do you see that? 2 2005 Mr. Dotts made a $3,000 cash down payment for the 

3 A Yes. 3 transaction; correct? 

4 Q Do you know who "KP" is? 4 A No, • $300 payment. 
5 A Kathy Picket. 5 Q I'm sorry. $300, yes. Thank you. 


6 Q And who is Kathy Picket? ~ 6 A Yes. 

7 A She receipts cash, she opens the safe in the ~ 7 Q And then it looks like on April 4 of2005 re came 


8 morning, picks up aU the cash and rtceipts it in. 1 
~' 8 in and paid anotl:ler $1700 towards the down payment; righ.l.? 


9 Q What is her title? # 9 A That's what this document shows, correct. 

10 A What is Kathy's title? She's, I don't know what b o Q And then on April 11 of2005, it looks like Bell 

11 her specifiC title is, she works in the accounting office, 

~ 

~ 11 Road Automall refunded him $2,000; right? 

12 she does accounting. J 12 A Th~tt is correct. 

13 Q Okay. ~ 13 Q All right Let's go to page, Bates page 185. 


·~ 

1 4 A She's not an accountant, but she does accounting :! 1 4 A Okay. 
~ 

15 in the accounting offtee. I'm not sure that she bas a p s Q Where did you get this document? 
16 specifiC title. ~ 1 6 A There is a reprint from our accounting system of 
1 7 Q And according to thls docwnent that we're looking 117 the check 

f18 at, it shows that Kathy Picket made an entry on March 21, " 18 Q And-­
1 9 2005 showing that the customer made a $300 cash down h 9 A Well, I'm sorry. May I restate that? 

20 payment; correct? ~ 20 Q Sure. 

2 1 A That is wbat l see, yes. ~ 2 1 A It's either a reptint or it is, when we print a 
~ 
22 Q All right. On the fourth line down there's an ~ 22 check there's also a carbon copy so It's either a copy of 
2 3 operator by the initials of "SO." Is that Steve Dallas? ~ 2 3 a carbon of the original or it's a reprint of a priDt, one 
2 4 A No. 

~ 
24 ofthost. 

25 Q Who is "SD?" h s Q By looking at tl:le check number, it appears to be 
i 

·)~ 

~ 
Page 17Page 15 .~ 

1 A Samantha Dimple. ~ 1 a carbon copy; correct? 

2 Q And then below that tl:lere's "MS." Who is that? 

~· 

[ 2 A Yes. After taking a closer look that's what I 

3 A I'm going to speculate on this. I b.ad a woman in ~ 3 believe it is. 

4 the office named Margy Durso. And then she was married 4 Q And how did you get this docwnent? 

5 and she doe.~n't work for me anymort. And I do not 5 A It would. have been kept on flit. in accounting. 

6 remember her married name. But I think that that Is who 6 Q And did you recehre that from Samantha Dimple as 

7 that is. 7 well? 

8 Q Okay. So according to this- Well, can you tell 
 A Yes. 

9 me by looking at this wb.at happened with this account? 
 Q So essentially back in January of2006 you asked 

1 0 A I can tell you some things. 1 can tell you that Samantha Dimple to get you documents in the accounting 
11 on March 21, SJOO was receipted by Kathy Pk:ket, and on department pertaining to Michael Dot1s' transaction? 
12 March 23, $1,000 was receipted by Kathy Picket. And it A Correct. 
13 appears that $1700 was also recorded by Kathy Picket, Q Have you personally seen the file that is kept: in 
14 receipted, I'm sorry, not recorded but receipted. the accounting department? 
15 And then on April 11, Samantha Dimple cut a check A Only what we hne here. 
16 for $2,000, and then on Aprill4, Margy posted a manual MR RAKESTRAW: What file? 
1 7 entry of $1,000. And It is takingS1,000 from the account THE WITNESS:. I mean this is what we have. 
18 as if there was - generally when I see something like MR. RAKESTRAW: Object to form. 
19 that, that means that someone is c~rrecling an error. MR. CHOI: Q Have you personally seenMichael 
2 0 Q All right. Dotts' f!Je that's kept in the accounting department? 
21 A An accounting error. MR. RAKESTRAW: Object to form. Go ahead. 
22 Q So you think that the receipt of$1,000 dated THE WllNESS: I'm not sure what you're asking for, 
2 3 March 23, 2005 was made in error? because the documents that we have in this folder that you 
2 4 A That would be my assumption in looking at this gave me are the documents held in accounting. 
2 5 document. MR. RAKESTRAW: fs there a file tor Michael Dotts? 

C.A.T . Report er & Transcript Services 
. .:rv·n OA <-· <rp ,c; 



6 (Pages 18 to 21) 

11 A Along with- ifyou'd like for me to continue, I 

12 also have a receipt for the easb dowu payment that would 

1 3 also be kept in the accounting file. 

14 Q Okay. 

1 5 A Now, the printout page is a printout from our 

16 computer system that " 'ould not have been kept In the fde. 

17 A copy of the cashier's check would have been kept in the 

18 ftle, and that woltld be what Is kept in accounting for the 


1 9 non-transaction of Michael Dotts. 

20 Q Okay. So you made a reference to the file in the 

2 1 accounting department. So when I say ftle, that's the 

2 2 file I'm talking about. 

23 A Okay. Ytah, okay. 


2 4 Q All right. Did you personally see lvficbael Dotts' 

2 5 ftle in the accounting department? 


1 A No. 
2 Q So you asked Samantha Dimple to get the contents 
3 ofthat file; correct? 
4 A Yes. 
5 Q And that whatever we just went over is a complete 
6 copy of the file in the accounting department? 
7 A Yes. 
8 Q How are those files indexed? 
9 A I don't know. 

10 Q Do you know what a deal jacket is? 
11 A Yes. 
12 Q What is a deal jacket'? 
13 A A deal jacket is wben a car is sold and is 
1 4 delivered to accounting, once the deal is delivered to 
15 accounting there's a deal jacket created. 
16 Q Is deal jacket different than the accounting flle 
17 fuat you earlier mentioned? 
18 A Yes. 
1 9 Q How are they different? 
20 A In this particular case, the Dotts case, there 
2 1 was not a deal file delivered to accounting because it 
2 2 apparently did not get that far. So aU tbere is in 
2 3 accounting for the Mkhael Dotts record is a transaction 
2 4 of money tbat came in and money that went out. 
25 There's no transaction, there's no ' 'ehicle to 

Q And what was his position at the time you spoke 
with him? 

A l'msorry? 
Q Sure. When did you speak to Asl.am Dulara 

regarding Michael Dotts' transaction'? 
A When did I speak to him'? 
Q Correct. 
A Within the last, whatever , when we were trying to 

determine who to bring to this deposition I spoke to him. 

So I'm not sure, sometime within the last two months. 
Does that seem reasonable? 

Page 21 

Q Okay. And what was Aslam Dulara's position back 
in March of200S? 

A He was the sales manager in the Bell Road 
Hyundai/Suzuki showroom. 

Q Is that the same as Bell Road Automall? 
A Yes. 
Q And who is Greg Stewart? 

A He was in charge of the finance department for 
that showroom. 

Q Was he lhe f=uce director for Bell Road 
Automall back in Marcil of2005? 

A No. 
Q All rigl1t. Tell me what was his position back in 

March of2005? 
A He was tbe lead finance person for that showroom 

that Aslam was in charge of. 
Q All right. I am a little bitconfitsed about the 

showroom and tlle dealership. Let's talk about tl1at a 
little bit. Okay? 

A Understandable. Tbere are "'o show rooms at the 
BeU Road AutomaiL The showroom where Michael Dotts, 
from the best that I can piece together the showroom that 
be purchased his car from was in the Hyundai showroom, 
whlcll Aslam Dulara was the lead manager, sales manager, 
and Greg Stewart was the lud fwance person. 

C.A. T. Report er & Transcript Se r v ices 
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Page 22 	 Page 24 

1 So those two individuals, if anyone had any 1 asked him ifhe remembered Michael Dotts' transaction and 

2 koowtedge those two individuals would have been tbe most 2 h.e said no? 

3 likely to have knomedge. But since they don't remember 3 A Yes. 

4 the trusaction, they don't ltave any knowtedge so I'm the 4 Q Did you show him any documentatior1trying to 

5 most knowte.deuhle because I revie'I\W the accounting 5 refresh his memory? 

6 ret.ords. 6 A No. 

7 Q Okay. I'm still trying to figure out the 7 Q Take a look at Exhibit I, document Bates stamped 

S showroom. 8 192 through 195. 

9 A Okay. 9 A Okay. 


10 Q So there's a Hyundai showroom? 	 0 Q I think earlier you testified the first time you!1 
11 A Yes. i; 11 have seen these documents is this morning? 

12 Q Are there other brands in that showroom as well? ~ 1 2 A Yes. 

13 A Suzuki. ~ 13 Q So until. this morning you bad never seen that 

14 Q Anything else? ~ before; is that right? 
~ 14 

15 A No. h s A That's correct. 
16 Q And what is the other showroom? §16 Q And nobody ever brought this to your attention? 
17 A It has Mazda and Mitsubishi. 	 A Not that I recall.h 7 
18 Q And the Mazda!Mitsubishi showroom has a separate h s Q Okay. So, therefore, when you spoke with Aslam 

19 sales manager and a separate finance director? L9 Dulara there's no way you could have shown hjm that 

2 0 A That is eorrett. Now, ifl may clarify one ho documentation? 

21 thing. !' 21 A No. 


~ ? ? 22 Q Sure. ~ -- Q Or even talked to him about the document or the 
23 A At one polot In time Maroa was included in the ~ 23 facts shown on that document; correct? 

~ 
2 4 Hyuodai showroom, and 1 canaot remember the date that we ~ 2 4 A Correct. 
2 5 moved that. But I believe, to tbe best of my knowtedge, 	 ~ 2 5 Q Ifyou will go to Exhibit I, Bates page 195. 

~ 
~-..o•; . ...:W.Q.>·,.,,. ""~· ''"' .~: 

Page 23 ~ 	 Page 25 

1 that ill March 2005 tb.at it was, that Maroa had been moved ~ 1 A Yes. 

2 to the Mitsubishi showroom. ~ 2 Q Do you recognize this signature? 

3 Q Okay. ~ 3 A Yes. 


4 A [may be iacorrect on tbat but that's the best ~ 4 Q Whose signamre is tiJat?

l 

5 that l can re.eall 	 ~ 5 A Debora Wood. 
~ 

6 Q Thai's tine. Thank you. ~ 6 Q Who is Debora Wood? 


7 Who was the sales manager for the ~ 7 A She was our office manager during tbat time. 

8 Mazds/Mitsubishi showroom in March 2005'! ~ 8 Q Have you ever heard ofwww.badbusinesshureaucom, 

9 A l would have to look that up, I don't know. ~ 9 all one word?
·~ 
~ 

1o Q Who was the lead finance person fur the p o A No. 

11 Mazda!Mitsubisbi showroom back in March of2005? Q So this morning is the first time you have seen
~ 11 
12 A I'd have to research that. p 2 that? 

13 Q And where does the Kia showroom tit into this ?: 13 A Yes. 

14 structure? 114 Q All right. I'd like to now talk about what 


15 A It's a completely different location. h s Michael Dotts would have gone through in his attempt to 

16 Q And do you also have a finance d.irector that h 6 

~ buy a car from Bell Road Automall. 

1 7 overseas all the finance operations? ~ 17 A I wiU do my best to speculate on what happened 


18 A At the Bell Road Automall we have a finan ce ~ 18 at that time. 

~ 

19 directioo aud at Bell Road Kia we have a finance director. g 1 9 Q Okay. So basedonExlubit I, Bates page 184, you 

20 Q And for some reason I'm thinking at one time it f, 

~ 
20 know that he made a down paymentof$300 on March 21, 


21 was the same person; is that right? i 21 2005; correct? 

22 A No. lzz A I'm sorry. Let me move to that document. What 

23 Q Always been separate'? ~ 23 was the question? 

24 A Yes. b 4 Q Sure. Based on Exhibit l, Bates page 184, it 

25 Q Okay. And when you spoke to Aslam Dulara you b s appears that he made a $300 casu down payment on March 21,
• 


C.A. T . Repor t er & Transcript Se r vices 
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Page 26 ~ Page28 
~ 

1 2005; correct? i 1 aU appropriate documents for a sale of a motor \'ehiele. 

2 A Yes, that's correct. ~ 2 Q And that would include a title and registration 

3 Q So that would have been the date of the first 13 application? 

4 contract? 't. 

I} 
4 A That would be one ofth.e documents, yes. 


~ 5 A I would assume, but l don't know for sure. t 5 Q Power of attorney? 

6 Q Is that standard practice at Bell Road Automall, ~ 6 A Let's see, is there a trade in. I'm not sure if 

7 to collect a cash down payment on the day ofthe contract? ~ 7 there's a power of attorney when there's no trade in. 

8 A That would he a normal procedure, yes. ~ 8 Yeah, I'm not sure about that. 

9 Q And do you know what the term spot delivery or ~ 9 Q Back in. March of 2005 what program did Bell Road 


1 0 yo-yo delivery is? ~ 1 0 Automall use to print those documents? 

11 A [have not beard the term yo-yo delivery prior to ~ 11 A Universal computer systems. 

12 reading sometblng tha.t you bad sent, but I am. familiar ~ 1 2 Q Do you still use universal computer systems? 

13 with spot delivery. '} 1 3 A Yes. 

14 Q Tell me what is your understanding ofspot ~ 14 Q And do you know ifuniversal computer systems 

1 5 delivery? ~ 1 5 saves the information based on the customer's name? 

16 A It's delivering a car before financing is ~ 16 A Only if it goes to accounting. 

1 7 approved. ~ 1 7 Q So ifa deal does not go through accounting, then 

1 8 Q And does Bell Road AutomaU engage in spot ~ 1 8 the universal computer system deletes infom1atioo that's 

19 delivery practice? ~ 1 9 inputted into it? 

2 0 A Yes. That see.ms to be what Americans like to do, ~ 2 0 Q The information w.ill drop offover time. I don't 

21 they want tbe merchandise now and work on the financing J2 1 know what the time limitation is, but any information 

22 after tbe bet ~ 2 2 pertaining to a non-transaction, which is apparently what 

2 3 Q Okay. So by looking at the documents that you ~ 2 3 happened with the Dotts situation, the information would 

2 4 have looked at, you agree with me that it looks like Bell ~ 2 4 be lost at some point in time. There would be no reason 

2 5 Road Automall spot delivered a vehicle to Michael Dotts on ~ 2 5 to maintain it. 


, ••_,, ~•.,;.,.,to;,;.w,.-tc'' ;::.-1·•..: 4; -,~- ·M-.; ~--,_.,., .,,._. •···~ ,,,.:_.,-• .__.,,, __.;<-..: ~. 'v" •.·. · ,;, ·j":~ • 
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1 March 21, 2005 after making a $3,000 cash down payment? •~ 1 Q Do you know how long ies kept in the universal 

2 MR. RAKESTRAW: Object to form. ~ 2 computer systems? 

3 THE WITNESS: 300. ~ 3 A ldon't. 

4 MR. CHQ[: Q I'm sorry. $300 ctt~h down payment i 4 Q Do you know who would know that? 

5 A I can only speculate tbat we deln•ered a vehicle A I could contact them and find out. 

6 to Michael Dotts on March 21 while collectlng only a \Vho?
I 

~ 
~ Q 

7 portion of the doWll payment and not ba,•ing the financing I 7 A Universal computer systems. 

B completely approved. Q Have you tried to look up infonnation on Michael
~ 8 
9 Q Wbat makes you think that was only a portion of ~ 9 Dotts' transaction on the uuiversal computer systems? 

l 0 the downpayment'/ ~ 10 A Yes. 
11 A Because on April 4 be brought the balance of Q Does universal computer systems also keepI ll 
12 $1700 In tb.e form ofa cashier's cheek. p 2 accounting records on Michael Dotts as well? 
13 Q Okay. And then on March 21 there had been a loan A Yes, that's the record tbat we have found on 
1 4 contract printed? Michael Dotts is the accounting record. g! 
15 A That would be my assumption under normal ~ 15 Q That's shown on Bates page 184 on Exhibit I? 
16 procedure, )'eS. A That is correctp 6 
1 7 Q And a buyer's order also printed as well? ~ 17 Q So there was no information regarding the deal 

18 A Yes. 11 8 itself; is that right? 

19 Q And, in fact, there's a whole host of documents ~ 1 9 A Correct. 

2 0 printed; correct? i 2 0 Q Do you have any idea what the terms ofthe tirst 

21 A Yes. ~ 21 contract were? 

2 2 Q Odometer disclosure statement? ~ 2 2 A I do not. 

23 A Yes. ~ 23 Q And based on the record in badbusinessbureau.com 

24 Q What other documents? ~ 2 4 you understand that tltere was a second contract as well; 

2 5 A My assumption would be that we would have prlnted ~ 2 5 correct? 
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Page 30 ~ Page 32 

1 A Which page are you referring to? ~ 1 transa.ction is voided then we void aU the documents and 

2 Q Page 192. ~ 2 destroy them. 

3 A It's my understanding that Michael Dotts has 3 Q Okay. 

4 alleged fiance states that be signed a second cont.ract 4 A But if for some reason that had not taken place, 

5 based on the inform.ation from the web site provided In ! 5 it most h"kely would have been in his office. So I asked 

6 192. t 6 him t·o do a search of his office. 

7 j 7 Q So Steve Rogers was the finance director that 


~ 
8 universal computet systems? 1 8 oversaw the operations at both the Hyundai showroom as 

~ 9 A It would not keep the contract. !i 9 well at the Mazda/Mitsubishi showroom? 
1 0 Q Because it's your understanding that the j 10 A That is correct.., 
11 i.nfonnation will drop offover time if the de.al did not go ~ 11 Q And was he also, at the time, fmance director 
12 to the accOlmting department? h 2 overseeing the operations at Bell Road Kia? 
13 A The universal computer systems only prints the h 3 

a 
A No. He did assist in helping set up some 

14 contract, it does not save an image of the contract. Once processes and procedures there, but not as a direct 
ap4 

15 the contract is printed and tbe transaction. is delivered i 15 employee or manager of that store. 
16 to accounting, accounting would then post the contract and ~ 1 6 Q So do you have any idea what the terms of the 

~ 
17 there would be an accounting record of that contract. U 7 first contract for Michael Dotts were? 

18 And so that's why l'm telling you that it's my b s A No. 

19 belief that this deal was never deUvered to accounting i 1 9 Q And do you have any idea what the tenns of the 

2 0 because there's no accounting record of a contract being ~ 20 second contract, if there was one, for Micllael Dotts were? 

21 positioned. 121 A No. 

2 2 Q f Wlderstand. And you personally looked for 122 Q Do you know wuo the salespersonwas for the 

2 3 Michael Dotts' deal in universal computet systems and you ~ 23 Michael Dotts transaction? 

2 4 did not find it; correct? p 4 A No. 
• 

25 A I searched every portion of the system, yes. I ~ 2 5 Q Do you know who the sales manager was fur tile 

~ 
> .,, " " 'f"" ""'· "•.. '' ' '''•' ''"'''"' ., . < ., • "'"' ••' ·<w ... 

Page 31 J Page 33 
~ 1 searched bis name in every possible way that I could, and 


2 phone number, and could not come up with anything relatiJig ~ ~ M~ha~~::::::0:s that it "11s Aslam Dolara 


3 to him other tban the accounting record. i 3 because be was in cbarge oftbe SJIIes showroom. 

4 Q Okay. So other than asking Samantha Dimple to Q And who is Dallas Berg?
i 4 

5 print up the accounting record, and searching universal ~ 5 A Dallas Berg is a, he's worked for me in many 

6 computer systems, what else did you do to tty to Locate ·~ 6 capacities, generally as an assistant sales manager. I 


~ 7 Mr. Dotts? t. 7 could find out for sure Wbat his title was at that time, 
e A l asked- I'm sorry. When you say locate ~ 8 but I'm pretty sure that we would find be was an assistant 
9 Mr. Dotts. ' 9 sales manager. 

10 Q Or i.ntormation pertaining to Mr. Dotts' l1 0 Q Didyou ever talk to Dallas Berg regarding 
11 transaction? 111 Michael Dotts? 
12 A Whtn l was requested for additional information h 2 }r A No. 
13 on Michael Dotts I bad asked, I believe it was, Steve ~ 13 Q Do you know who the finance manager was for 
14 Rogers to look through and see If be had aay files ~ 14 Michael Dotts' transac,ti.on? 

1 5 regarding Michael Dotts. And be did not. A.n.d l also 115 A No. I assume that it would ha•'e been Gng 
16 asked Jane Vandyke, who is the finance seeretary, to look i 16 Stewart because he was, most of wbat be did was generated 
17 for information pertaioiDg to Mlcbael Dotts. ~ 17 in that showroom, be was primarily responsible for 
18 Q And she did not have any? ·~ 18 interacting with customers that were sold in that 

~ 
1 9 A Sbe did not lind anything: at that time, no. .~ 19 showroom. 

20 Q Okay. Now, we took Steve Rogers' deposition sol ~ 2 0 Q And we can confirm that Steve Rogers would have 


tt
21 think we have his work history. Now, wby did ycu think i 21 been the finance director tor Micha.el.Dolts' transaction; 

2 2 that Steve Rogers would bave a file? ~ 2 2 correct? 

23 A He was tbe finance director and so if there "'·ere ~ 23 A Yes. 

2 4 any, if for some r eason tbe me would b.a"e not been ~ 2 4 Q And you were !he general manager? 


2 5 destroyed, wbicb would be normal procedure. Lf a ~ 25 A Yes. 
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Page 34 J Page 36 

1 MR. CHOI: Mark that ~ 1 specific information so you're asking their general 


2 (Plaintiffs' Exlubit 2 was marked for ~ 2 practices. And ifI may have an ongoing objection to your 

3 identification.) ~ 3 line ofquestioning so I don't have to keep interrupting 


~ 

4 MR. CHOI: Q Okay. Mr. Alexander, the court v 4 it. 
5 reporter has just given you what's been marked Exhibit 2. ~ 5 MR. CHOI: That's fine I'm simply trying to find out 

6 On the fourth page of Exhibit 2 there's a photograph and ~-· 6 the sales process that Michael Dotts would have gone 

7 underneath the photograph it says, "Car dealer's hot dog ~ 7 through and the documents that were generated and what 

8 general manager with a check in hand lied to us, the check ~- ~ happened to th.ese documents. 

9 would not be ready for another three hours, but when the ~ MR. RAKESTRAW: And what relev.tnce does this have lbr
'7 

1 0 cops show up, the check seemed to be ready," ~ l o these documents? 
~ 11 MR. RAKESTRAW: Object to form. ~ 11 MR. CHO[: A big part of it is we're trying to find 

12 MR. CHOI: Q Did I read that correctly? i 12 Mr. Dotts, 


13 A I'm sorry. What's the question? ~ 13 Q What would the sales manager do with that guest 


14 Q Did I read that correctly? ~ 1 4 information? 

15 A Did you read that correctly? ~ 15 A Are you asldng ~ita.t be did with Michael Dotts' 


16 Q Yes. ~ 16 guest sheet? 

17 A lthinkyou did, yes. '< 17 Q General practice. 


18 Q Okay. Do you recognize the gentleman with the ~ 18 A General. He would sometimes help the salesperson 


1 9 tie on that's in approximately the middle ofthe picture? ~ 19 lind an appropriate vehicle for the customer's budget, if 


2 0 A No, I do not. ~ 20 that's wbat the customer is looking for, or if the 


21 Q You don't know who that is? ~ 2 1 customer is looking for some specific color or trim, lte 


22 ~ 22 would aJso assist tbe sales person in identifying wbere 
A No. ~ 
23 Q All right So wh.en Michael Dotts first came into · 2 3 that vehicle might be. 

2 4 Bell Road Automall, would he have been asked to fill out a 12 4 Tile purpose oftbe guestsbeet is to gat·her 

2 5 guest infonnation sheet'? ~ 25 information on what the consumer wants or needs and that's 
!$ 

"'·"'~'"•""''"'l' "''•'·''"' ·''"· 
Page 35 ~ Page 37 

~ 
1 A That would be normal procedure. ~ 1 a tool to help us not waste the customer's time walking 
2 Q And what kind.ofinfonnation is requested in the ~ 2 around in 120 degree heat looking at a thousand vehicles. 

3 guest information sheet? ~ 3 Q My question to you VI'3S what happens physically toI : 4 A Without having one in front of me it's bard to ~~~ guest information slli:et after the sales manager uses 

5 say exactly, but it's just bask information like name, 

6 phone number, whst type ohehicle they're looking for, if • 6 A It wou.ld lay on his desk until tb.e customer 


7 they have a potentilll trade in and some basic information ~ 7 either leaves, or if they purchase a car It should be 


8 about tl:lat W 8 attached to the rest of the documents that go with the 

9 Q And then there will be a salesperson either ~ 9 sate. 


1 0 assigned to Mr. Dotts or somehow !here will be a J 1 0 Q All right. So if the customer leaves without 

11 salesperson that will work with Mr. Dotts; correct? ~ 11 buying a car, what happens to it, does it get traShed? 

1 2 A The salesperson would. have been the one who would ~ 12 A The guest sheet? 


13 have filled. out tbe guest sheet. ~ 13 Q Yes. 

14 Q Okay, And then what does the sales person do ~ 14 A Most likely it gets trashed, it wouldn't be 


15 with the guest slli:et after that? ~ 15 useful any longer. 

16 A Generally It would be turned into the sales ~ 16 Q So you doni keep track ofguest sheets? 

l 7 manager. ~ 17 A No. There would be no reason to. 


l B Q And what does the sales manager do with the guest ~ 18 Q So ifa person signed a contract, then it will go 

19 sheet? ·~ 19 to tlre dealer jacket; is that right? 

20 !viR. RAKESTRAW: Mr. Cho~ before you continue let me ~ 2 0 A It usually wouJd, normallyyou would. fake aJI the 


21 put an objection on the record. rdon't want to continue f 21 paperwork and put it together with the deal jacket. 

~ 

2 2 objecting to your questions, I don't know where this is ~ 22 Q Does the general manager or sales manager keep 

2 3 going, I don't know why you're asking it, Idon't see what b3 track of whichsalesman assisted whichcustomer, like a 

2 4 it has to do with Waldrop. %2 4 salesman tog? 

2 5 Obviously, you know that Rob Alexander has no i 2!> A Yeab, there's a sales log. 
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Page 38 J Page 40 

~ 
1 Q And what happens to that sales log, is that kept t 1 accounting. But the d()(uments would be kept together. 

2 in your dealetShip? ~ 2 Q All right. While the documents are kept together 

3 A I don' t know. ~ 3 in the sales department, what is that called? 
4 Q So at this point you don't know who was the ~ 4 A I believe a sates jacket. 


5 salesman that assisted Mr. Dotts when be fl!St came into ~ 5 Q And bow is that kept, is that like a Manilla 

6 Bell Road AutomaU; is that correct? ! 6 tblder'? 


~ 
7 A Yes. r< 7 A Y eab. It would be some type of folder that 
8 Q There may be a sales log that will tell you who ~ 8 generaUy would go to the finance de11artment at tbat point 
9 is the salesman that worked with Mr. Dotts? ;; 9 in ti me, wbicb would be when be would, when Mr. Dotts 

10 A I suppose that's a possibility, I can check Into ~ 10 wo111d go to tbe fina.nce department to sign a contract. 
11 tbat. t; 11 Q The sales department would have also generated 

12 Q And that will also tell you who that sales ~ 12 what's called a four square, some people call it a 
~13 manager was? ~ 13 negotiation sheet. What do you call it? 

14 A It should if it were fdled out completely. ~ 1 4 A I caD it a negotiation sheet, worksheet. 
15 Q And the sales log is kept by the date; correct? i 15 Worksheet, I tbhtk that's what it says on the top of it. 
16 A The top of the page would have a date on it. ~ 16 Q Okay. And it would have been your practice to 
1 7 Q And that's how you keep all the sales logs in the ~ 17 have Mr. Dotts review the worksheet and sign off on it as

& 
18 dealetShip? ~ 18 weU.? 

1 9 A I'm not going to tell you that they're that ~ 19 A The worksheet is designed to present numbers to 
2 0 organi2ed. I'll ha\'e to do some research, something that ~ 2 0 tbe customer. Tbe customer, I mean there's a lot or 
21 old, I mean we're talking well over a year ago. It's not 121 things that happen once the numbers are presented to tbe 
2 2 relevant information at this point in time. We may have J 22 customer. 
2 3 it, we may not, I'll check. H2 3 But, once agahl, assuming Mr. Dott's case since 
2 4 Q You don't keep sales logs in three ring binders? W, 2 4 be gave us a depo.~it and clearly took delivery ofa 
2 5 A There's no reason to maintain the information. ~ 25 vebicle, he would have agreed to some terms that· would 

... '• ..,. '·'''"""" " • ' • ,, ,,.' •• ..,,..,_ ••• ' , ... ,. ·~ ,, "'··" ''" ·'· ·'·> . ''''»' . . , ' . .... ""',' '·''""'' 
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1 Q My question to you is, does Bell Road Automall ~ 1 have more than likely been written on tbat worksheet. 

2 keep .it that way? ~ 2 Q Okay. So then the sales jacket, along with 

3 A Not that I'm aware of, no. ~ 3 Mr. Dotts, is sent over to the finance department; is that 

4 Q And then once Mr. Dotts decided on a vehicle, ~ 4 right? 

5 would he be asked to fill out a credit application? l 5 A Yes. 

6 A Only ifwe agretd on a priee or a pay~~tent plan, ~ 6 Q And it would have been the tlnance manager that 

7 or depends bow he was negotiated, if be negotiated price ~ 7 would have printed out the first loan contract; correct? 

8 and payment and we felt we could get sontewhere close to ~ 8 A Yes. 

9 that we'd ask have asked him to fill out a credit ~ 9 Q As well as the buyer's order? 


l 0 applkation at tbat time ifhe were willing to purchase a ; 1 0 A Yes. 
11 car. In Q And the l1nance manager would have used the 

ey l?12 Q You know that Mr. Dotts made a S300 cash down universal system to generate these documents? ~ ­
13 payment on March 2 1, 2005; correct? ~ 1 3 A Yes. 

14 A U~huh. h 4 Q So do the sales people input any infonnation into 


t
15 Q So that teU.s you he had to fill out a credit: ~ 15 the universal system? 
16 application? i 16 A No. 
1 7 A Correct. ~ 17 Q And the fmance manager would have asked 
18 Q And what happened to the cre.dit application after 118 Mr. Dotts to sign the contract, sign the buyer's order and 
1 9 Mr. Dotts filled it out? all the other related documents and collect the down p9 
20 A Immediately after he fiUed it out? p o payment; is that right? 

21 Q Yes. ·~ 21 A Correct. 

22 A Itwould bave been part of the sale documents. ~ 22 Q And the fmance manager would have alc;o asked 


t 
23 Q Would that have been put into a deal jacket? 

~ 
R 23 Mr. Dotts to till out title registration application; 


2 4 A There wouldn' t be a deal jacket atth&s point in p 4 correct? 

2 5 time. The d.eal jacket is formed when the deal goes to 1 25 A Under normal procedures, yes. 
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. ~ Page 42 ~ Page44 

' Q And the finance manager would nave also issued a oc 1 what is that page called? 
·~ 2 TRP fur the vehicle that Mr. Dotts was attempting to 2 A That is a deal jacket in accou.nting. 

3 purcbase; correct? ~ 3 Q So that would have been generated by the 
~ 
f 
~4 A I'm sorry. I bave t.o think back to l\brclt 2005. 4 accounting department? 

! 
~· 

5 We haHn't always used TRP in the state ofArizona, we 5 A Yes. 


6 used to just smtch tbe plates, so u· a TRP were issued be 6 Q Essentially this is Uke a cover ofan accounting

~ " 

7 would be tbe one to issue it. ~ 7 file; is that right? 

8 Q AJI fight Well, the plate is switched if i 8 A Yes. For a specifiC car. 

9 d~ere's a trade in car; correct? Q Sure. But not for a specific customer?
119010 A Right. A Correct. The file is recreated when the car is 

11 Q And based on your reading ofthe posting on the ~ 11 purchased. This file conr that you're looking at was 
12 badbusinessbureau.com there was no trade in car? *p 2 created date, let's see, 817 of 200·'­
13 A Correct. I apologize for speaking over you. ~ 13 Q Is that the date when Bell Road Automall 
14 Yes, based. on. the irtformatloo we have, we assume there was ~ purchased this particular vehicle?~ 14 
15 no trade in, so we assume there was a TRP, and we assume ~ 15 A That's correct. 

16 the financial manager would have generated that dotumeut. ! 1 6 Q And, again, let me confirm this is a cover ofan
•
17 Q Okay. You dort't have to apologize. l'm going ro ~ 17 accounting ftle; is that right? 

1 B probably do that too so I'll try to remind you not to do h s A That's correct. 

19 it. Okay? 119 Q And earlier in your testimony you talked about an 

20 A Okay. p o accounting file where tbe documents pertaining to Michael 

21 Q Now, does Bell Road Automall keep the TRP log? b l Dotts' transaction were found. Are we talking about the 

22 A No. Tbat is all computerized now and l believe 122 same accounting ftle here? 

23 tbat --WeD, again, l'm.sorry. I would ha,·e to go back b 3 A No.
f, 
2 4 to March or200S. !J 24 Q How are they different? 

2 5 Currently today we go to a motor vehicle web site b s A T his accounting file is based off, first of all, 


~ 
'f"' 

Page 43 ~ Page 45 

l and we generate. the TRP from the web site, and so the ~ 1 what you have in Exhibit 1, document 174, this is a 

2 reco rd is kept by motor vebiele on their web site. And I ~ 2 standard transaction, this is a transaction, it·'s not a 

3 believe that was the case in March. i~ 3 voided transaction, ifs not a non-transaction. So this 

4 Q Okay. So Bell Road Automall did not keep any ; 4 deal went to accounting and this customer's name was 


5 logs pertaining to TRP it issued; is mat right? ~ 5 written on this vehicle's accounting rec.ord, inventory 

6 A It's my understanding that motor vehicle bas J, 6 accounting record. 

7 taken the responsibility in keeping that log with their ~ 7 So that's what we' re looking at here. Mr. Dotts 

8 new computerized web based system. ~ 8 bas no associated inventory accounting record because he 

9 Q Okay. Who generates the sales jacket? ~ 9 did not purchase a car. Does that make sense? 


1o A The sales manager would generate the sales ; 1 0 Q l know what you're telling me, but I'm having a 

11 jacket. ~ 11 hard time understanding it because, as you know, Rex 

12 Q And what information is contained on the cover of ~ 12 Waldrop did not purebase a car from Bell Road Automall 


13 the sales jacket? ~ 13 either. 

14 A There's usuaUy a check llit that just says, you ~ 14 A WeU, actuaUy be did. 


15 know, what is there and what's not there. So in this case 
9 
·~ 15 Q Oh, he did? 


16 maybe it would say only $300 down payment was collected, 1 16 A Yes. 

17 Sl700 to be brough.t in at a later date, probably the terms " 17 Q That's what I'm ttying to ~e out
~ 
lB and conditions that were negotiated, you know. £18 A Rex: Waldrop was - You want me to walk you 

19 Just it's an information sheet so the financ.e ~ 19 t hrough this thing? 

2 0 manager knows sort ofwhat he's getting. ~ 20 Q Yes.
~ 

21 Q Okay. Can you please go to Exhibit I, Bates page ~ 21 A Okay. Customer comes in, negotiates for a car, 

2 2 174, the very first page, sir. ~ 22 comes to an agreement, goes to the fmance department, 
23 A Okay. tlnanee department in most cases spot delivers. Okay. 
24 Q Now, I understand this is not for Midmel Dotts' I ~~ That means tbey leave the lot, maybe they haven't given us 
2 5 transaction, this is for Rex Waldrop's transaction. But i 25 aU of the information thltl' they need to give us, maybe 
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Page 48 

l. they have. We have to do some fmance approva~ so it's 1 companies to see whether they were interested in buying 

2 not a completed transaction yet. Okay. 2 Mr. Dotts' loan contract? 


3 Once the transaction is complete the c11stomer has A There are various ways. It can be done via FA-X, 

4 given us everything that we need, we've obtained 
 it can be done through some computerized s~:stems, there's 
5 financing, we'vt provided everything that they need, it a couple of computerized systems on the market, I can't 
6 goes to accounting. Accounting attache-11 the customer's 6 think of the names at the moment, but you can input the 
7 name to the vehicle accounting record, wbicb is Exhibit 1, i· 7 information into a web site and then teD it which bank 

~· a 174. Okay. ~ 8 you want to \iew the information. 

9 The contract is then sent to the bac.k, title work ~ 9 Q All right Back in Marchof2005 did BeU Road 


~ 
l 0 sent to the state, all of the accounting work tben starts ~ 10 Automall use any compurerized system to find a finance 
11 to happen. ~ 11 company willing to buy the contract? 
12 In the case ofMe. Waldrop the bank did not ~ 12 A I believe that we did. 

~ 
13 accept the contract when it arrived b«ause of some false ~- 1 3 Q You don't know the name? 

14 information that had been put on his application. Okay. ' ~ 14 A I'm not positive, [think the name was Dealer 

15 So that's the difference between - So the difference j 1 5 Track but I will have to verify that. 

1 6 between Waldrop and between Dotts is Dotts never got i 1 6 Q Is that part of the universal system? 

1 7 approvtd, the bank never approved a deaL i 17 A No. 

18 They may have given a conditional approva~ they ~ 18 Q Completely separate system? 

19 may have given him a Oat tum down. But whatever the *~ 19 A Third party company. 

2 0 case, maybe we asked Mr. Dotts to bring the car back ~ 2 0 Q Stand alone? 

2 1 because the financing was not agreeable and b.e brought the ~ 2 1 A Yes. 


~ 
22 car back and we gave him his money back. ' 22 Q And is Dealer Track something that you access 

2 3 In the case of Waldrop, he did not bring the car 2 3 over the internet? 

2 4 back, he refused to bring tbe car back a.nd we had to chase 2 4 A Yes. 

25 him and we also had false information. 25 Q Have you looked for Michael Dotts' information 


Page 47 , Page 49 
~ 

1 So those are tbc two primary differences that ; 1 through Dealer Track? 
2 bopefuUy help explain the difference between the two i 2 A l personally have not l beUeve Steve Rogers 
3 transactions. The Waldrop deaJ went through the full t 3 did as an original request for any information. Once 
4 process down to the contract going to the bank. And the ~ 4 again, on a non-transaction tbat information does not have 
5 Dotts deal did not, it ne,•er went that far, it never made ~ 5 much survival rate, dlere's no reason to maintain 
6 it to tbt accounting office. ~ 6 databases on non-transactions. 
7 The only thing that made it to the acc()unting f 7 MR RAKESTRAW: When you reach a point thafs 
8 office was the down payment. Because we don't bold cash ~ 8 convenient to take a break. 
9 in our financial office, everything gets dropped in the ~ 9 MR. CHOI: Let's take a break right now. Okay? 

10 safe, accounting picks it up in tbe morning a nd re<:eipts l1o MR. RAKESTRAW: Okay. 
11 it in. So we have to keep a record of, accounting ofcash ~ 11 (Recess taken.) 

12 or checks or checks written, just like any business would l 12 MR. CHOI: Back on the record. 

13 do in accounting. ~ 13 Q Earlier you said that Dallas Berg was an 

1 4 Q All right Now, let's come back to Mr. Dotts' S14 assistant sales manager? 

15 transaction. ~ 15 A That's my belief. I'll have to verify that. 

16 A Okay. ~ 1 6 Q Is he still employed at Bell Road Automall? 

l 7 Q So he signs the first contract and drives off in A No, be's not, be's been- I don't know where
p7 
1 8 a car in a spot delivery? f 18 he's been working, but he just rec.ently reapplied at the 

1 9 A Presumably. Jl9 Kia store, at Bell Road Kia. 

20 Q And then Bell Road Automall will try to find a ~ 2 0 Q Okay. But he's not working there yet? 

21 finance company waiting to buy the loan contract from Bell f21 A I don't know, I'm not sure. 

2 2 Road Automall; correct? f 22 Q Okay. When did he last work for Bell Road 

23 A That would be the normal procedure in tbat ~ 23 Automall? 

2 4 situation. ~ 24 A I'd have to pull his employee file. 


~ 
2 5 Q How would Bell Road Automall contact fmance ;! 25 You don't know? 

~ 
Q 

C . A . T . Re port er & Tr anscript Services 
I C l"i "'>' l () A· 7_71'1.~~ 



14 (Pages 50 to 53) 

Page 50 ~ Page 52 

1 A No. 
2 Q But you know that he was working for Bell Road 
3 Automall in March and April of2005; correct? 
4 A I'm makiog lbat as.~umptioo band on tbe Ri!H)tT 
5 Report that he provided to me. 

6 Q Do you know why he left Bell Road Automall? 
7 A No. 
B Q And do you know who Miguel is, salesperson? 

9 A I did have a salesperson by the name of Mig11el 
1 0 Salazar. 
11 Q Do you know where he is now? 
12 A No. 
13 Q Do you know how long he worked for Bell Road 
14 Automall? 

15 A No. He was on and off. 
16 Q Now Exllibit l, Bates pages 192 through 195, okay. 
17 Let's start with page 192. 

18 A Okay. 
19 Q That is tile Bell Road AutomaU dealership that is 
20 in the background in the photograph; correct? 
21 A Yes. And iflmight elarify, that Is the 

2 2 Hyundai!Suzuld shO"'Toom even tbougb it says Mazda. That's 
23 wby earlier I said I'm not sure wbeo we moved M azda, the 

2 4 signage is still there. 

25 Q And then on page 193 there's a picture showing 


~i 1 MR. RAKESTRA\V: rm going to make a belated objection 
~ 2 and object to the document as without foundation. 
~ 
~ 3 THE WITNESS: Do you want me to go through and dispute 

~.· 4 anything that I-Okay. Well, lefs see. Someone 
~ 5 thanking Rip-off'Report for getting his $2,000 refund 
1'f 
(1 6 check back. 


~ 7 l don't believe tl1at Rip-off Report ever

i B contacted Bell. Road Automall and assisted !lim in getting 
~ 9 his check back. So [ would dispute that they had any 

; 10 assistance in doing so. 
~ 11 MR. RAKESTRAW: Well, rm going to object to you doing

i 12 that because by definition ifyou dispute certain things 
~ 13 it may be perceived tlmt you're validating others and you 
J 14 cao'tvalidateane-mailoffofawebsite.. 

~ 15 THE WITNESS: Okay. rm sure d1ere's a lot of things 
~ 16 I can dispute in here, but since I don't know who wrote 
~ 17 them, or I don't know the basis or the foundation, I'm 

~ 18 just going to say Idon't know. 
~ 19 MR. CHOI: All right. ['to not asking you to validate 

! 20 foundation or validate anything. And I can ask you 
~ 21 questions line by line item, but [thought we can save 
~ 22 some time by having you read through it and see which ones 
~ 23 you dispute. 

~ 24 MR. RAKESTRAW: No, he's not going to do that So ask 
~ 2 5 hin1 questions. 
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1 police cars parked in front of BeU Road Automall 

2 dealership. Do you ever recall seeing police cars coming 

3 to the dealership? 

4 A Do I ever recall seeing police cars coming to the 


5 deale rship? 

6 Q Yes. 

7 A Yes. 

8 Q Do you remember this particular instance when the 

9 police cars came to the dealership? 


10 A No. 
11 Q How often do police cars show up at your 
12 dealership? 
13 A ldon'tknow. 
14 Q Okay. And did you read the entire 
15 Rip-offReport.com that is page 192 through 195 of 
1 6 Exhibit 1? 
17 A I read It this morning before we got here, so I'm 
18 not - I have read it, yes. 
19 Q Okay. Do you have any reason to dispute what's 
20 stated in this report? 

21 A I actually had a challenging time ftguring out 


22 who is speaking in the report, to be quite honest with 
23 you. 
2 4 Q Okay. 
25 A I a mnot sure. 

~ 

~ 1 MR. CHOI: Q Okay. Mr. Alexander, beginning on
i 
$; 

2 page 192 ofExhibit I, I'm going to read from the.very 

~ 3 top. "My tiancee bought a car rrom tile auto malL" You 
~ 4 have no reason to dispute that; correct? 

1\{lt RAKESTRAW: rm going to object. You can't askI 5 

6 him questions ­
~ ~ 7 MR. CHOI: What is yourobjection? 

j 8 MR. RAKESTRAW: Youcan'task-­
~ 9 tvtR. CHOI: What is your objection? 


~ 10 MR. RAKESTRAW: Could 1state it, or do you want me to 
uf ll write it down! 

~ 12 MR. CHOI: No, you're entitled to form, foundation,


i 1 3 privilege. 

~ 14 MR. RAKESTRAW: I'm instructing him not to answer, 


~ 15 there.'s no foundation in this document. 

~i 16 MR. CHOI: Speaking objections are prohibited. 


~ 17 MR. RAKESTRAW: I'm instructing you not to answer the 

~ 18 question. 


~ 19 MR. CHOI: Q Mr. Alexander, are you refusing to 

b o answer my question based on the instruction ofyour

h 1 attorney? 

~ 22 A Yes.
®*23 Q Thank you. Okay. Next sentence, "Two weeks
b 4 later they told him he was not financed." Do you have any 
~ 
~ 2 5 reason to dispute that'? 
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Page 54 ~ Page 56 

1 MR. RAKESTRAW: We're not answering questions about 
2 this document, Rob. You can take it to the judge, but 
3 this document has no foundation and we're not going to go 
4 through line by line and talk about the document as if i.t 
5 had some validity. 
6 So I'm instructing you not to answer. Ifhe 
7 wants to compel you to answer, he cru1 go to the judge. 
8 MR CHOJ: Thank you. 
9 Q Mr. Alexander, Bell Road Automall does frequently 

1 0 tell its customers in spot deliveries that the financing 
1 1 can get approved; correct? 
1 2 A I'm not sure I understand. 
13 Q Sute. Let's come back to this content ofspot 
14 delivery. 
15 A Okay. 
1 6 Q Earlier you said that because customers prefer to 
1 7 have cars right away that Bell Road AutomaU will, most of 
18 the time, give the customer the car pending the final 
19 approval oftbe financing; correct? 
2 0 A Uh-bub. 
21 MR. RAKESTRAW: Object to form. 

2 2 MR. CHOI: Q Is that a yes? 

2 3 A Correct. 

2 4 Q And about, percentage wise., how often is it that 

2 5 BeU Road Automall cawtot find financing fur d1e customer? 


~ 1 Q Does Bell Road Automall ever send out what's 
~ 2 called ad.verse action letters when it could not obtain 
~ 3 financing for customer? 
~ 4 A No. It's my understanding that the bank has the 
[ 5 responsibility to send out that letter, as long as we have 
~ 6 submitted It to a bank. Ifwe have oot submitt·ed it to a 
f, 7 bank, then it becomes our responsibility to send out an
i 8 ad~·erse letter. 
~ 9 So in accordance with that, we always attempt to 
~ 10 get the financing arranged, obviously, because we want to 
~ 1 1 seD cars and secondly because the bank will send out the 
~ 
£ 12 ad,•erse adion letter. 
~ 
~ 13 Q And are you the person most knowledgeable 
~ 14 regarding BeU Road Automall's failure to refund 1he 
~ 15 Dotts' down payment prior to April 11 of 2005? 
( 16 A There was no failure to refund the Dotts. 
~ 17 Q My question to you, sir, was 1he failure to 
i 18 refund the do\\~1 payment prior to April II , 2005? 
~ 1 9 A There was no failure. 
~ 20 Q Okay. Do you have any personal knowledge 
~ 21 regarding why Bell Road Automall did not refund Michael 
~ 22 Dotts' down payment prior to April ll, 2005? 
~ 23 MR RAKESTRAW: Object to form. 

2 4 THE wnNESS: ln looking at a calendar it appears that 
2 5 Michael Dotts returned 1he car at some time on aThursday, 

~,,;; • .,. ·I.J:'A:t·l·i~'·A'J';f':-"~J<"~<.:'."-1:'""''/.'<-c"'/<- \':'f"'.~;::<'.::~y.>;,:..\~r~o:· ),'(1;·-~.;.;.o; • ·:.-,.~;.~\'>.-.•>;N<:: ,;yN•;;)(-:J..'it.IV'~-;.;,;Ji;~:>-. ~;c)',;,.::><'<'~···•-~;<o;~':M,;-...,).-;>W':.Zl'~•;Hc'.~~~~-:..,-.:.-.;;,)·.,._'J*'F'>o>N,~,:~.:"-'•·~-..;:);:.;.>,·<'.J/;,1,;' ;~~~•,s<:..,,...~=:.;JA~:.iolo.'~,:.t»·,><(· 

Page 55 

1 MR. RAKESTRAW: Object to fonn. 

2 THE WITNESS: It's less than l percent. 

3 MR. CHOI: Q And how often is it that Bell Road 

4 Automall asks the customer to sign a second or third 

5 contract? 

6 MR RAKESTRAW: What does this have to do with a 

7 30(B)(6) deposition? 

8 MR. CHOL: I'm trying to lay the foundation for some 

9 ofthe sratements made in. the Rip-otlReport.com. 


1 0 Q Can you answer that question? 

11 A I don't have that answer. 

12 Q Are you the person most knowledgeable regarding 

1 3 Bell Road Automall's attempt to obtain fmancing for the 

1 4 sale ofa vehicle, and the reasons fmancing was not 

15 obtained? 

16 A Yes. 

1 7 Q And have we already covered the basis for your 

18 knowledge? 

19 A Yes. 

2 0 Q And do you know what Bell Road Automall did in 

21 attempting to obtain financing for the Dotts? 

22 A No. 

2 3 Q Do you have any knowledge as to why Bell Road 

2 4 AutomaiJ could not obtain fmancing for Michael Dotts? 

25 A No. 
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whether that was morning or afternoon, I don't know. 
According to the calendar, that would have been less than 
three business days that it took to refund his money. 
Does that answer your question? 

MR. CHOI: Q No. 
A Okay. I'm sorry. What was your question? 
Q Sure. Do you know why Bell Road Automall did not 

refund Michael Dotts' down payment prior to April I I, 
2005? 

A No. 
Q How long does it usually take to refund a down 

payment when the financing does not go through? 
A It usuaUy takes us two to three business days to 

verify, to get all the paperwork through the process to 
accounting, accounting has to verify iftbe funds are 
good, which in this case it appears they were, and then I 
have to sign the check, I have to be available to sign the 
check. 

Q Did you sign the refw1d check to Michael Dotts? 
A I did not. 
Q Why is it that in Michael Dotts case you didn't 

have to sign the refund check? 
A Debora Wood signed that check. She's not an 

authoriud signer on our account. [t soamds from the 
Rip-off Report, his name is Stiff or Stick, or somebody 

C. A.T . Reporter & Tr a nscript Services 
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Page 58 

1 told Mr. Dotts to s how up and make as big a scene as 

2 possible at lht dealership. 

3 So I would imagine that my office manager 

4 atl\laUy risked he r j ob in signing that check, r isked that 

5 that t httk might not be any good when it got to the bank. 

6 Luckily, it a pptars tbt bank cas hed the check. 

7 Q Are you the only authorized owner on tbe account? 
8 A Allen Bolsbautr is. 
9 Q And Allen doesn't come to the dealership on a 

1 0 day-to-day basis; correct? 
11 A That's co rrect. 

12 Q And what makes you think that Stick told Michael 

1 3 Dotts to go to the Bell Road Automall. and make a big 
14 scene? 
15 A Let me fmd Ibis and I' II answer the question. 
16 Is this the entire Rip-off Report, or is it in here? , 

17 MR.. RAKESTRAW: !just told him we weren't going to 
18 testify from the Rip-olfReport, so let's not. 
19 THE Wn'NESS: Okay. I read it this morning, 1don't 
2 0 know, to go from here ­
2 1 MR. RAKESTRAW: Let's not go th.ere unless the court 
2 2 orders you to. 
2 3 THE WriNESS: What was the question, again? 
2 4 MR. CHOI: Q Sure. What was the basis for your 
2 5 testimony lhat you believe Stick or Stuff asked Michael 

Page 59 

1 Dons to go to BeU Road Automall and make a big scene? 
2 MR. RAKESTRAW: Object to form. 
3 THE WITNESS: I read it in the Rip-off Report. 
4 MR. CHOI: Q Where in the Rip-offReport? 
5 A l don't know. Do you reca ll reading that in the 
6 report. 

7 MR. RAKESTRAW: You know, this isn't that intormal, 
8 Rob. We're not going to testify from the Rip-off Report. 
9 THE WITNESS: All right. 

1 0 MR. RAKESIRAW: Unless be gets tlJe judge to order you 
1 1 to test:ify from it. 
12 TilE WITNESS: So am I refusing to answer the question 
13 based on your ­
14 MR. RAKESTRAW: Let's just move on. 
15 MR. CHOI: No, I want to make the record. 
16 Q Are you refusing to answer that question based on 
1 7 your attorney's instructiom to you? 
1 8 MR. RAKESTRAW: Yes? 
19 THE WITNESS: Yes. 
20 .MR. CHor: Thank you. 
21 Q And what was your standard policy and procedure 
2 2 regarding refund ofdown payment \vhen spot delivery does 
2 3 not go through? 

2 4 A Generally a call is madt to the customer, tbe 

2 5 customer bri.ng:s tbe car back, we have to inspect the car, 


Page60 

1 m.ake sure there's no damage to the vehicle, if there's a 
2 trade in we return tbeir trade in, if there's a doWD 
3 payment then we "'i ll request from accounting, once the ear 
4 bas been inspected, for a refund. 

5 Accouarioe ~ill make sure that, they Mil verify 
6 that all the funds wue receipted and are good. And then 

7 a e herk will be cruted and then it will be put in a 
8 basktt for me to sign. 
9 Q So you don't have u cbeck ready when the customer 

10 brings the car back, typically? 
ll A Most of the time we don't knowwben the customer 
12 is going to sbow up, it's not Uke they schedule an 
13 appointment. 
14 Q So my question to you, sir, is you don't lulve a 

15 check ready for the customer to pick up when the customer 
16 brings the car back'/ 

l 7 A 1\-(ost of tbe rime not. Unless we know 
18 specifically when they' re going to arrive and we've 

19 al ready inspcct'ed the ca.r and already verified funds, we 

2 0 would not have a check ready. 
21 Those are au things we have to do before we 

22 prepare a check. So if tbose things are done before the 
2 3 customer arrives with the car, the cb.ed . 'M-ill be ready. 
24 lC tbey ba,•e not. tbe checkwill not be ready. 
2 5 Q Who makes the decision how much to refund back to 
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1 the customer? 
2 A In most cases the full refund is given, unless 

3 there's d alOJige to the car. 

4 Q And who makes tbe decision on how much !O refund? 
5 A Generally t be finance director would make that 

6 deci~ ion . 

7 Q All right. Now, the R.ip-ofi'Report also says 
8 that tbe a salesman named Miguel -- Strike that. 
9 The Rip-off Report also said that Michael Dotts 

l o was told lhat the Bell Road Automall would charge h.im fur 
11 renting the oar that he was trying to buy. Did you see 
12 that'? 

13 A [ r euUreading that. 

1 4 Q fs that Dell Road Automall's practice, to charge 
15 rental value for the car that they spot delivered? 

1 6 A No. 
1 7 Q Do you sometimes do that? 
1 8 A I'm not aware of ever doing that. 
19 Q Do you know ifyour salesmen try to use that as a 
2 0 tool in attempting to persuade a customer to sign another 
21 oontraCl, or buy another car, from Bell Road Automall? 
2 2 MR. RAKESTRAW: Object to form. 
2 3 TI-I.E WITNESS: [wouldn't have any k'llowledge of what 
2 4 sales people might use or might not use as a persuasion 
25 tool. 

C. A. T. Reporter & Trans c ript Services 
t ,k f'll") \ 0 .4 "l _7 t'l "lC:: 



17 (Pages 62 to 65) 

Page62 ~ Page64 

1 'MR. CHOI: Q Okay. ~ l Q How quickly after you find out that the sale d.id 

2 A It's not something we t rain on. ~ 2 not go through would you destroy the deal jacket? 


~ 
3 Q Do you tell your sales persons not to use ~ 3 A They should be destroyed that same day for tbe 


4 charging a rental value as a tool ofpersuasion? 1 4 protection of the dealershil> and the customer. It's a 

t. 

5 A We have never trained specif:Jcally on not doing ~ 5 contract that's been voided. 


6 that, we train our sales people to be up front and ethical i 6 Q Do you just slu:ed the entire file? 

&

7 with our customers. A Yes, that's generally what happens. ~ 7 
8 Q Now, let's come back to the file that would have 1 8 Q Do you have an on-site shredder? 
9 been created from the sales department on Michael Dotts. ,,~ 9 A Yes. 

1 0 You said it's called a sales jacket'? ;; 10 Q And you said that tbe credit application is kept; 
11 A For Michael Dotts a sales jacket would have been i

)~ 

11 is that right? 
12 created by the sales manager and delivered. to the finance A Yes. 


13 manager to prepa re the sales agr eement for a spot 113 Q Where? 

14 delivery. ~ 14 A We have boxes in storage. They're not filed In 

1 5 Q And in that sale - Strike that. So the sales h s any speci.lic order, they're dropped in a box and when the 


b 2 

L6 1 6 jacket consists ofan outside cover? box gets full we take tbe box to stornge. 
17 A Yes. [ 17 Q How long do you keep the credit applications? 

~ 
18 Q And that would have infonnation regarding the ~ 18 A I belie\•e 25 or 26 month.~, it's an obscure 


1 9 customer and the deal? J19 number. 


2 0 A Mostly the deal It would bave tbe customer's ~ 2 0 Q How are they indexed?

fzt 21 name on it. A They' re not, they' re just in. there. 

2 2 Q Okay. And the deal, meaning the price, the ~ 2 2 Q Is there one box where you keep - I'm trying to 
2 3 monthly pa)'men.t, and those kinds ofthings; correct? i> 2 3 figure out how the file is kept. Okay? 

·~ 24 A Yes, correct. ~ 2 4 A Very sloppily. 
2 5 Q And then inside ofthat jacket there will be a ~ 2 5 Q Are the boxes dated? 

,...,I-·"·" "" .. . '"'·· '•''- '"~ ,., >X".'"''"""'' ... , .....,. ·" 

Page65 Page 63 ~ 11 customer infonnation sheet? A No, not that l'm awa re of. 

2 A There could be, yes, it's not required but there I 2 Q How many boxes ofcredit applications do you 

3 could be. generate in a given year?
i 3 

4 Q And a credit application filled out by the ~ 4 A I don't know, I don 't know. 

5 customer? ~ 5 Q Did you try to locate Michael Dotts' credit 

6 A YA I 6 application? 

7 Q And most likely a worksheet as well? ~ 7 A No. 

8 A Most probably. ~ 8 Q Did anybody ask you to do that? 
9 9 A No. 

10 ~ ~~:~~:::er~~~~~reau that was pulled based on ~ 1 0 Q And ifyou were trying to t1nd it, what would you 
1 1 the credit application. ~ 1 1 have to do? 

12 Q Wbo pulls the credit record? ~ 12 A We would have to go dig through boxes of files. 

1 3 A Sales manager. ~ 1 3 Q How many boxes? 

14 Q And then all of that will be physically given to i 1 4 A I don't know. 

15 the ftnance manager? ~ 15 Q Have you seen where the boxes are kept? 

16 A Correct. ~ 1 6 A I have not been over there personally, no. 

1 7 Q By the sales manager? ~ 1 7 Q Who is the person that physically takes the boxes 

18 A Yes. ,, 1 8 over to the storage area? 

19 Q And what does the fmance manager do with those i 1 9 A I'm not sure. 

2 0 documents and tbe sales jacket? ( 2 0 Q Who is in charge ofthat process? 

21 A If the sale goes through, be will turn it into ~ 2 1 A The sales managers would be in cha rge of that 

2 2 accouoting and an accounting file will be created. If the j 2? process. 

2 3 sale does not go through, then aU documents should be ~ 2 ; Q I think I already asked you tbis. Nobody asked 

2 4 des troyed, with tbe exception of tbe credit application we ~ 2 4 you to look for Mich.ael Dotts' credit application? 

2 5 have to keep on me. ~ 2 5 A Correct 
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Page 66 f Page 68 
~ 

1 Q Do you know if the boxes are indexed by dates? ~ 1 actually bad. So I'm not sure what the issue was there. 

2 A I don't believe that we keep them i.n any sort of [ 2 Q But the credit application does contain 

3 system at all. ~ 3 confidential customer information? 

4 Q Are you required to keep them in some sort ofa I 4 A Yes. 

5 system where you can find prior credit applications? ~ 5 Q Okay. And when you were asked for, when you were 

6 A It's not my uuderstanding tb.at tb.at's Jlart of the l 

~ 6 first asked for infomtation about Michael Dot.ts, it was 

7 r equirement. ~ 7 Michael that had made a complaint against Bell Road, 

8 Q Did you look for any information pertaining to 't 8 wasn't it? Wasn't that the flfSt request for documents, 

9 Michael Dotts in Steve Rogers' heat file? ~ 9 was a Michael without a last name? 


10 A When I asked Ste~·e Rogers tOr any doeuments that ~ 1 0 A You know, Jdon't remember. 

11 he might have on 1\~iehael Dotts, my assumption is that he '~ 1 1 Q And then the judge ordered you to research the 


12 wottld have looked in h.is beat file. ! 1 2 check? 

13 Q You know Steve Rogers keeps a heat file; correct? ~ 13 A It seems like that's right. 

14 A Yeah. The heat rue, that term, what that means I 14 Q So did you research the check? 

15 to me is deals that are in process that are working. So a f 1 5 A Yeah. 

16 non-transaction deal, a deal that's already been voided ff 16 Q And then you tried to find any documents relating 

17 would not be in a heat fde. A heat Ole, in my mind, ~ 1 7 to Michael DoUs? 

18 would be someone Yl'ho is still in a vehicle and we're stiU ~ 18 A Right. 

19 trying to obtain financing. l 19 Q You testified that a spot delivery is where the 

2 0 Q Do you personally keep a file for problem ~ 2 0 customer is given the car pending financing? 

21 transactions? j 2 1 A Correct. 

2 2 A No. ~ 2 2 Q He's allowed to take the car home; right? 

2 3 Q Other than Steve Rogers, does anyone else at the &2 3 A Correct. In the ease of a spot delivery, that's 

2 4 dealership keep a file for problem transactions? ~ 2 4 correct. 

2 5 A No. ~ 2 5 Q What kind of safety procedures do you use to make 
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l Q I'm trying to figure out -- Strike that I tbink 1 sure that tbe customer doesn't take advanmge ofbemg 

2 you already answered that question. ~ 2 allowed to take t1le car home, drive the.car? 


! destroyO:o~:e~~=ut::d~:~:l!!~t ~ ! kD~w, ~:~~s~::~:::::~:::•r:::tp~~~:~.~:u"~ have 

5 teaming tbat the sale didn't go through? ~ 5 some concept of bow these people pay their bills. And we 


6 A I do not know. Actually, ifI can, if a deal ~ 6 make a, the sales manager makes a judgment caU on whether 

7 goes to accounting, I'm not sure what the process is on ~ 7 or not he trusts " 'bat's being told to him. 

8 record keeping after the deJII goes to accounting. I was ~ 8 Q So it's not done in every transa(,'tion? 

9 only prepared to talk about Dotts today so I'm not sure ~ 9 A No, no.
101 0 about Waldrop. ~ Q What percentage oftransactions is it done in? 


11 MR. CHOl: All right That's all the questions I ~ 11 A I don't know. 

12 have. 12 Q In the Waldrop case, would you characterize that 

13 MR. RAKESTRAW: I have a couple questions. 13 as a spot delivery? 


14 EXAMINATION ~ 14 A Yes. 

15 BYMRRAKESTRAW: ~ 15 Q Eventboughhealreadyhadfinancing? 


16 Q Are you allowed to give out those credit i 16 A I'm not- Did he have financing at his own bank 

1 7 applications? ~ 17 or something? 

18 A I. am not real familiar with the blw, I know we' re ~ 18 Q No. My understanding it that tl1e financing was 

19 required to keep them, everybody in the dealership knows j 1 Q approved pending verification ofbis employment. 

2 0 we have to keep them. i 20 A Okay. I understand wha t your question is. l 


~ 
21 We put them in a box and we put them in storsge Q21 don't know if it was a -- I'm just usuming it was a spot 

22 and they sit. I mean, it not something- I can remember ~ 2 2 delivery and that we obtained financing after he left r 

2 3 once in the last six years that we had a request for a I 2 3 don' t know ifwe bad financing obtained before be left or 

2 4 credit application, a. customer claimed that they had never ~ 2 4 not, but certainly the deal went to accounting and tbe 

2 5 applied for credit and we found tbe applleation and they ~ 2 5 contract ­. 
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Page 70 ' 	 Page 72 
~ 

1 I mean, we thought we had appronl from the bank ! 1 A I'm not saying it should not b~tve been paid to 

2 because we believed the information on the credit him, rm saying that it appears that she -­i 2 

3 application. And th:en when that was found to be untrue ~ 3 Q She went out on a limb for him? 

4 then the contract was kicked by the bank. ~ 4 A Yellh. 

5 Q Now, you are familiar with the fact that this is (j 5 Q You testified you didn't .!.:now why Bell Road kept 

6 a 30(B)(6) deposition? •~· 6 the Waldrop file. Did Waldrop get an attorney immedia tely 

7 A I don' t reaDy know what that means. j 7 following, to your knowledge? 

8 Q Well, it's the person most knowledgeable about a & 8 A I don't remember the time line, but it's a 

9 certain event. ~ 9 different type offile than, it is an accounting file so 


~ 
1 0 A Yes. ~ 10 it's a different status. a different department than 
11 Q And you have determined that you're the person ~ 1 1 Dotts. Dotts was a sales file on a non-transaction so 
12 most knowledgeable'? ~ 12 it's just a completely different classification of file. 
13 A Yes. ~ 13 MR. RAKESTRAW: Oka.y. That's alii have. 
1 4 Q And.you've done that by familiarizing yourself ~ 14 MR. CHOI: All right. I have a few tbllow-up 
15 with everything that was available? l 15 questions. 
16 A Yes. ~ 16 FURTHEREXAMINATION 
1 7 Q Is there at1ybody at Bell Road Automall that is i 17 BY MR. CHOI: 
l a more familiar than you as fur as personal knowledge? ~ 18 Q Mr. Alexander, earlier you testified that the 
19 A Not that I could fmd. ~ 19 customers who are subject to spot delivery are allowed to 
2 0 Q Because basically you're saying people didn't ~ 2 0 take a car home? 
2 1 remember this transaction? ~ 21 A Yes. 
2 2 A Cor red. ~ 2 2 Q And iftfley don'i have a trade in, that's dwouglt 
2 3 Q Do you moni!Qr web sites relating to complaints J 2 3 the TRP; correct1 
2 4 about your dealership? ,. 24 A If i.t's a true spot delivery, then they would be 
2 5 A No. 25 isSIIed a TRP. Sometimes someone just wants to take a car 

Page 71 Page 73 

1 Q Do you give them any credence? 1 bome to show a family member or something, in that· place 
2 A No. ~ 2 It would be a dealer tag would be put on the car. So if 
3 Q And is it your testimony that the gentleman that i 3 we're talking about spot dem•ery a TRP would be issued. 
4 is identified as your general manager in the photo that 4 Q Do you know whether the dealership is allowed to 

i 
~ 

55 was referred to earlier, is not someone who works at the issue a TRP as opposed to a dealer tag? 

6 dealership? ~ 6 A J.f there's a contract to place, then a TRP would 


~ 7 A l don't recognize that individual at al~ l mean, 	 :t 7 be issued. 

~ 
8 granted it's not the clearest photo, but I don't. It 8 Q And earlier you. talked about fmancing being~ z

9 almost looks Uke the police had pulled somebody over in. ~ 9 approved and then you also talked about financing being 
10 the picture. obtained. Are they two different things?h o 
11 Q Does the finance company keep copies of credit ~ 1 1 A Yes and no. I' ll try to do my btst to explain 
12 applications, the various flllllD.Ci.al companies? that.112 

1 3 A I don' t know, and I don' t know what ~ 13 Q Sure. 

14 responsibi.lity would be in that. A Obtaining of financing is having a bank, there's 
Ju 
15 Q Now, you testified that one ofyour employees § 15 an approval and there's conditional approvals and tb.ere's 
16 wrote a check to Michael Dotts, according to the ~ 1 6 turn downs. There's three classifications. So obtaining

~ 
17 signature? 	 t 17 fmancing would be either an approval or a conditional 

m
1 8 A Yes. a 1s approval. Okay. And so I guess obtaining could be maybe 
1 9 Q She signed her own name? 

~ 
h 9 we have a dea~ maybe we don't because it's a conditional 

20 A Yes. ~ 20 approval And an approval would be the deal is approved 
2 1 Q And retroactively did you approve her doing that? 

~ 
and we're sending it to the bank. Fl 

22 A I don't recall ever appro\'ing her doing that. ~ 22 Q I'In still confused. 
23 Q But, I mean, in other words you ate not saying ~ 23 A fm sorry. ~ 
2 4 today that that check was unauthorized and it shouldn't p4 Q [t seems like financing is just a long process; 
25 have been paid to Michael Dotts? ~ 25 is that right? 

~ 
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Page 74 ~ 
A It's not simple, by any means. Financing for a ~ 1 

2 house is very similar to financing for a car, quite [ 
3 honestly, it's become that difficult. ~ 2 
4 Q All right. So when you spoke to A.slam Dulara, i ,, 3 

4 
5 Greg Stewart, Steve Rogers and James Vandyke, as weU as i 

5 
6 Samantha Dimple, or any other employees at BeU Road ~ 6 
7 AutomaU regarding Michael Dotts' transaction, other than ' 7 
8 giving them Michael Dotts' name, what other information ~ B 
9 did you tell them in order to locate or try to jog their ~.. 9 

10 memory? ~ 1 0 
11 A 1 informed them that it was a deal from March of ~ 1 1 
12 2005, that we got th.e car back, tbat we refunded his ~ 12 

1313 money. I don't think I really had any other infonnation ~ 
li: 14 

14 at that time to go on to try to refresh their memory 11s to ~ 1 5 
15 who it was. ~. 

11761 6 Q Because at that time you had not seen the M 

17 Rip-ofiReport.com; correct? ~ 1 8 
18 A That's correct, yeah. ~ 19 
1 9 Q Do you know wbo Stick is? ~ 2 0 

20 A No. ~ ;; 
2 1 MR. CHOI: Okay. All right. That's aU I have. ~ 

2 3 22 Thank you. ~ 

2 3 MR. RAKESTRAW: Thank you. We'll read and sign and l 2 4 
2 4 want a condereed.' 

25 (The deposition was completed at 12:22 P.M.) 
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7 I, ROBERT DAVID ALEXANDER, having read the 
8 foregoing deposition consisting ofmy testimony at the 
9 aforementioned time and place, do hereby attest to the 

1 0 correctness and truthfuolness ofthe transcript under 
11 penalty of perjury. 
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STATE OF ARIZONA ) 
) ss, 

COUNTY OF MARICOPA) 
BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing deposition was 

taken before me, GAIL E. FERGUSON, a Certified Court 
Reporter, Certificate No. 50723, for the State of 
Arizona; that the witness before testifying was duly sworn 
by me to testify to the whole truth; that the questions 
propoWJded to the witness and the answers of the witness 
thereto were reduced to written fonn under my direction; 
that ( ) pursuant to request, notification was provided 
that the deposition is available for reading and 
signature, OR ( ) deposition review and signature was 
not requested; that the foregoing pages coretitute a true 
and correct transcript of all proceedings had upon the 
tak.ing ofsa.id deposition, all done to the best ofmy 
skill and ability. 

I FURTHER CERTIFY that I am in no way related to 
any ofthe parties hereto, nor am I in any way interested 
in the outcome thereof. 

DATED at Phoenix, Arizona, this 31st day ofJuly 
2006. 

GAIL E, FERGUSON 
Certified Reporter 
Certificate No, 50723 
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